PROVI SI ONAL

E/ 1999/ SR. 32
5 August 1999

Oiginal: ENGLISH

ECONOM C AND SOCI AL COUNCI L
Subst antive session of 1999
PROVI SI ONAL SUMVARY RECORD OF THE 32nd MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Tuesday, 20 July 1999, at 10.00 a.m

Presi dent: M . VALDI VI ESO ( Col onhi a)
(Vi ce-President)

CONTENTS

COCRDI NATI ON OF THE POLI Cl ES AND ACTI VI TIES OF THE SPECI ALI ZED AGENCI ES AND
OTHER BODI ES OF THE UNI TED NATI ONS SYSTEM RELATED TO THE FOLLOW NG THEME:
DEVELOPMENT OF AFRI CA: | MPLEMENTATI ON AND COORDI NATED FOLLOW UP BY THE

UNI TED NATI ONS SYSTEM OF I NI TI ATI VES ON AFRI CAN DEVELOPMENT (conti nued)

Corrections to this record should be submitted in one of the working
| anguages. They should be set forth in a menorandum and al so incorporated in
a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this

docunent to the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ai s des
Nat i ons, Geneva.

GE. 99- 64614 (E)



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 2

In the absence of M. Fulci (ltaly), M. Valdivieso (Col onbia),
Vice-President, took the Chair

The neeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m

COCRDI NATI ON OF THE POLI Cl ES AND ACTI VI TIES OF THE SPECI ALI ZED AGENCI ES AND
OTHER BODI ES OF THE UNI TED NATI ONS SYSTEM RELATED TO THE FOLLOW NG THEME:
DEVELOPMENT OF AFRI CA: | MPLEMENTATI ON AND COORDI NATED FOLLOW UP BY THE

UNI TED NATI ONS SYSTEM OF | NI TI ATI VES ON AFRI CAN DEVELOPMENT (agenda item 4)
(continued) (A/ 54/ 133-E/ 1999/ 79; E/ 1999/ 104-S/ 1999/ 754)

Panel on poverty eradication and sustai nable human devel opnent

The PRESIDENT, said that, on the threshold of the new nillennium

the African continent faced the difficult challenge of inproving its socia

and economi c situation. Africa was the only region where the poverty rate and
the absolute figures for poverty had increased between the m d-1970s and the
m d- 1990s. In the year 2000, nore than half the popul ation of Africa would be
living in poverty. Africa was the only region in which primary and secondary
school enrol nent had declined since 1980. In nost African countries, the
adult literacy rate was | ess than 50 per cent and enrol nent in secondary
education was between 7 and 20 per cent.

HI V/ AI DS had becone a di sastrous epidem ¢ and posed a fundanental threat
to the working population. Medium and |ong-term production growth was
gravely endangered. Two-thirds of the persons infected by the virus lived in
Africa and the di sease was expected to reduce average |life expectancy there
by 17 years.

It was al so estimated that nore than 20,000 wel |l -trained professionals
had | eft the continent every year since the md-1980s, in search of better
prospects and earnings. Persuading themto return, or even retaining those
who were still there was a nmonunental task.

In view of the actual and potential contribution of wonen to
devel opnent, ways nust be sought of elimnating all forns of discrimnation
agai nst wonen and of creating a nore favourable environnent for their
participation in devel opnent at all |evels. Education and training and a
greater awareness of the capacity of wonen were sonme of the many possibilities
in that connection.

Accel erating the rate of economic growh was essential if the vicious

circle of poverty was to be broken. |In that context, close and particular



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 3

attention should be paid to international trade and i nvestnment flows, as well
as to the declining trend in official devel opnent assistance (ODA) and foreign
direct investment (FDI).

Capacity in the private sector nust be encouraged, particularly in order
to pronote exports. South-South cooperation within Africa and wi th other
devel opi ng regi ons was prom sing. Broadened and deepened wherever possible,
Sout h- Sout h cooperation could play a central role, and three-way cooperation
wi th the devel oped countries should also offer excellent possibilities.

The nmenbers of the panel would take up those and other inportant
guestions of concern to Africa. |In particular, they would give their views on
how t he organi zations of the United Nations systemwere responding to the
report of the Secretary-General, as well as on the efforts they were making to
coordi nate and harnoni ze the various international and bilateral initiatives
on behalf of Africa. Wth due attention given to harnoni zati on and
coordi nation, the United Nations system could nmake a major contribution to the
devel opnent of the African continent.

Ms. AWORI (Assistant Adm nistrator, United Nations Devel opnent
Programme (UNDP)) said that the sonbre background sketched out by the
President in his introductory remarks would help to give the discussion the
necessary sense of urgency.

Coordination was particularly inportant to Africa because resources were
dwi ndling, nmaking it all the nore inportant to rationalize the use of what was
avai |l abl e and enhance the goals of operational activities for devel opment,
especially with regard to poverty eradication and the evergrow ng nunber of
energency or crisis situations in Africa. As the President had pointed out,
the coordination issue nust be considered in relation to Africa's priority
concerns: external debt, declining ODA and FDI, trade, agriculture,

i ndustrial technology transfer, regional cooperation and integration and, in
particular, conflict or crisis situations. No matter how great the

coordi nation within the system however, the direction and | eadership of
coordination was in the |last analysis in the hands of the countries. It was
i nportant for the agencies of the systemto renenber that fact, to nake space
therefor and so to organi ze thensel ves that the countries were able to take

over the | eadership and had the capacity to do so.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 4

Coordination was a priority issue for UNDP, in particular, because it
had been nmade responsible for centralizing the new approach enbodied in the
United Nations Systemw de Special Initiative for Africa. The previous
Admi ni strator of UNDP had spent nmuch time and effort trying to ensure that the
menbers of the United Nations devel opment group worked efficiently,
effectively and in close synergy. He had insisted that the resident
coordi nators shoul d nake coordination a priority, alnost at the expense of
UNDP's own work. The results of those efforts were beginning to be seen

In preparing her presentation, she had found many new and exciting
i nstances of coordination. The report of the Secretary-General on the causes
of conflict and the pronotion of durable peace and sustai nabl e devel opnent in
Africa (A/52/871-S/1998/318) had been of great assistance in further
sharpening the United Nations focus on Africa and his enphasis on the |inkage
bet ween peace and sust ai nabl e devel opnment had provi ded new areas for
i nter-agency coordination with the political armof the United Nations.
Followup to the report had started and UNDP, in particular, was engaged in
i mpl enmenting its recomendations in the areas of post-conflict peace-building
and sust ai nabl e devel opnent. For exanple, a joint mssion, consisting of a
nunber of United Nations agencies, including UNDP, and the Departnent of
Political Affairs, had recently visited Sierra Leone to consi der how work
could begin on a strategic framework for that country.

A Joint Reintegration Unit had been established in Rwanda to support a
sust ai nabl e progression fromemergency and relief activities to rehabilitation
and reconstruction, and so on to development. It had proved a very
i nteresting experience that m ght have to be replicated in other countries in
crisis. The Unit's function was to pronmote the joint planning and
coordi nati on of reintegration programmes and projects. Mch had been said
about the gap between relief and rehabilitation and the Unit's work was
designed to ensure that that gap did not occur. The Joint Reintegration Unit
woul d shortly expand its activities to include the Food and Agriculture
Organi zation (FAO), Wrld Health Organization (WHO and United Nations
Children's Fund (UNI CEF), which had been providing technical assistance as
associ ate menbers since 1998. There were plans to increase participation
further in 1999. The joint reintegration programre was a good exanple of the

ki nd of collaboration for peace and rehabilitation that was needed.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 5

In the area of peace-buil ding, UNDP cooperation with the Departnent of
Political Affairs had resulted in support for the regional small arns
moratoriumin West Africa. A mgjor trust fund had been established that had
led to all the nenbers of the Econom c Community of West African States
(ECOMAS) signing a Small Arms Agreement. In Burundi, UNDP had worked, with
the participation of the Wrld Bank and ot her agencies, to support the peace
process through the establishment of a trust fund to enable the people of
Burundi to nove safely through the peacenaki ng process. That was anot her
not ewort hy exanple of collaboration in the area of peace and conflict
resol ution.

Coordi nati on anmong the United Nations agenci es took place under the
unmbrella of the United Nations Systemw de Special Initiative for Africa.
UNDP and the Econom ¢ Comm ssion for Africa (ECA) were the co-chairs of the
Special Initiative and UNDP attached great inmportance to that role and to the
support it had to give to all the other agencies involved to ensure that they
carried out their obligations. The Council had undoubtedly been told about
the various thematic groups or clusters created under the Special Initiative
and about the neeting at Nairobi at which she had stressed the need for
coherence anong United Nations programres in Africa. Efforts had been made
since then by the Adm nistrative Conmttee on Coordi nation (ACC) to encourage
the | ead agencies for the various cluster groups to prepare progranmes having
clear targets and goals and a system for nonitoring achievenents and
nmobi |'i zi ng resources.

Turning to the United Nations Devel opnment Assi stance Franmework (UNDAF)
and the resident coordinator process, she said that that instrument, approved
by the Council, had matured considerably during 1998. Agenci es had worked
hard in the field to conplete the pilot phase of the UNDAF and nmany nore
countries had become subjects of the common country assessnments (CCAs) which
could help to give thema conmon vision and a common path towards devel opment.
At the country level, coordination had been secured through the CCA/ UNDAF
process and the resident coordinator system O the original 18 UNDAF
pilot countries, 10 were in Africa. Furthernore, of the 44 African
countries, 41 had already made CCAs. In the next phase, starting in May 1999,
anot her 10 countries of the region would undertake UNDAFs and it was expected

that, by the year 2002, all the African countries would have begun an UNDAF.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 6

The UNDAF was val uable even in countries with special circunstances as a neans
of ensuring the transition fromrecovery to devel opnent. The CCA was a

val uabl e coordination tool in its own right because it enabled all the actors
of the United Nations system including the Bretton Wods institutions, to
cone together on the issue of indicators and substantive anal yses of the
country's devel opment situation. It was thus a way of ensuring a comrn

vi sion of devel opnent anong all the devel opment aid actors.

The UNDAF process had been considerably assisted by the |egislative
support received from General Assenbly resolution 53/192 and the acceptance of
t he UNDAF by the agencies of the broader United Nations system Some of the
techni cal agencies had initially been left out. They had pressed to becone
i nvol ved, and were currently part of the system The only problemthat had
arisen was with those agencies that were not represented in the field, and a
way had to be found of enabling themto participate nore effectively.

As for coordination with the bilateral institutions and other
multilateral institutions, UNDP had established a very good systemw th the
Eur opean Union. A steering committee had been set up to harnoni ze approaches
and find ways of working together on the major issues of governance, trade and
the like. The Steering Commttee had sent out letters to all representatives
in the field encouraging themto work together. The relationship was grow ng
and sone joint work was being done, for exanple, on a governance forum

Wth regard to coordination with the Bretton Wods institutions, a
speci al effort was being made to harnoni ze approaches. Sone of the serious
differences with regard to approaches had, in the past, been played out in
public in a way that did not please either side. Regular neetings were
currently held each quarter to iron out differences and establish nodalities
for collaboration. UNDP contributed to the Consultative G oup Meetings by
hel ping to prepare the social sector inputs.

Opportunities existed for greater cooperation regarding bilatera
initiatives but nore political will was needed. UNDP had enjoyed
opportunities to cooperate with the United States in its work in Africa,
particularly in the area of capital markets and strengthening the financia

sector, as well as on governance. It would like to cooperate nore closely



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 7

wi th Sweden and Norway in their initiatives for private sector devel opnent in
Africa and, in general, would encourage bilateral donors to nove towards
greater cooperation with the United Nation system

UNDP was al ready cooperating with France in a project to assist sone of
t he French-speaking African countries to harnonize their |egal systens in
respect of trade and custons formalities. It was also participating in the
Devel opnent Assistance Commttee (DAC) initiative in Mali, which had proved a
very interesting and i nmportant experience. UNDP was also very much invol ved
in supporting a Japanese bilateral initiative for Africa concerning
Sout h- Sout h techni cal assi stance.

Inits efforts to coordinate with the private sector, UNDP had gone
outside the United Nations famly with a viewto seeing how the private sector
coul d be nore engaged in supplying basic devel opment needs, since it was clear
that the African public sector would not be able to provide the basic
infrastructure that was needed. It was inportant to ensure that the private
sector was rem nded of the need for good corporate citizenship and
envi ronnment al managenent .

UNDP was currently engaged in cooperating with the International Labour
Organi zation (ILO) in respect of youth. Young people were Africa's future and
were vitally inmportant not only for devel opment but also for peace and
stability. It was inportant that they should be engaged in productive
activities and UNDP was col |l aborating with ILOto that end. There was as yet
no partnership with the United Nations Popul ati on Fund (UNFPA) to engage them
in organizing their reproductive lives, but it was hoped that such
col | aborati on woul d be established in due course.

She woul d | eave a detailed survey of the H V/ AIDS situation to the
Executive Director of UNAIDS. It sufficed to say that UNDP had spent sone
US$ 22 million on AIDS in Africa and its offices there took the issue nost
seriously, for it inpinged on all other aspects of life. For exanple, the
novenent of soldiers across the continent had had a marked effect on
accelerating the rate of the disease's spread.

She urged the Council to keep the Special Initiative for Africa on
its agenda and to nmonitor it constantly. Coordination was needed not only
to manage resources better but also to ensure that a real partnership

with African countries could be established and that the resources prom sed



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 8

them coul d be nobilized. She also urged bilateral agencies to support the
| ead agenci es which gave priority to Africa. Urgency was the watchword.

Dr. PIOT (Executive Director, Joint and Co-sponsored
United Nations Progranmmre on HI V/ AIDS (UNAIDS)) said that, as had been
recogni zed by all those associated with Africa, the AIDS epidem c was the
greatest threat to the continent's devel opment. AIDS affected every country
in the world, but sub-Saharan Africa nost of all. The statistics were
shocking. At least 9 nmillion Africans had already died of AIDS, which had
overtaken malaria to beconme the primary cause of death. 1In 1998 al one,
2 mllion had died. Over 22 mllion persons were currently living with HV or
AIDS. Alnost 8 million African children under the age of 14 had |ost their
nmot hers or both parents to the epidemic. In many communities there was not a
famly that had not | ost sonmeone to AIDS and many househol ds were headed by a
child. Life expectancy - one of the main devel opnent indicators - was
declining. A child born within the next five years in one of the nost
severely affected countries could expect to live to 47, as against 60 if it
had not been for AIDS. Lastly, the hard-won gains in the field of health had
been wi ped out: <child nortality had doubled or tripled.

Many in Africa still saw AIDS as a health problem but it was nore than
that. 1t had an inpact on the whol e devel opnment agenda. It led to
significant | osses of income: a third of the rural househol ds affected
by AIDS experienced a 50 per cent reduction in agricultural output. It also
af fected education: in households where a person had died of AlIDS, spending
on schooling for children was halved. Children's |oss of education and of
adults to care for themresulted in social problens, as well as inplications
for conpetitiveness, since know edge was such an inportant factor

Anot her consequence of the epidenmc was the high expenditure on health.
In Zi mbabwe, for instance, half the in-patients in hospitals were there
because of AIDS-related illness. By 2005, it was estimated that the basic
treatment costs - not including the expensive therapies used in high-incone
countries - would amobunt to over 60 per cent of the Governnent's health
budget. In Kenya the cost would be over 50 per cent.

The social costs were high, too: the sparse middle class was being
wi ped out. Teachers were dying: in Cote d'lvoire - not one of the nost

affected countries - one teacher died every school day. The inplications for



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 9

devel opnent were horrific. Menbers of the security forces, too, were dying
of AIDS. That had grave inplications for security, whether or not in conflict
situati ons.

The private sector also felt the inmpact of AIDS. It could reduce
conmpany profits by up to 20 per cent. Africa needed to attain and sustain an
average growh rate of 7 per cent to halve poverty by 2015. The World Bank
had, however, conservatively estimted that countries with a high HV
preval ence would | ose 1 per cent per capita growth annually. |In Kenya, for
exanpl e, the cumul ati ve expected | oss was 15 per cent over the next decade.

Sust ai nabl e devel opnent was, of course, also set back by conflict; and
the organi zed viol ence associated with it helped AIDS do its murderous work.
W t hout peace there could be no health; w thout health there would be no
devel opnent; and w thout devel opnent there would be no peace. Conflict
situations - and their consequences - increased the potential for the spread
of the HIV infection.

The situation was serious but not hopeless. Two African countries -
Senegal and Uganda - had shown that a combi nation of strong political support,
broad institutional participation and carefully sel ected progranme
i nterventions could actually lead to a decline in the nunber of new HV
i nfections and i nproved care for those who were ill.

The Council had set up UNAIDS to hel p coordinate the response to Al DS
t hroughout the world. Africa, with 70 per cent of those infected with Al DS
but only 10 per cent of the world's population, was naturally a priority for
the United Nations efforts. The key to a sustained response to the pandem c
was a broad-based and coordi nated response, bringing together Governnents,
multilateral and bilateral partners and civil society. UNAIDS was uniquely
pl aced to facilitate that coordination

It was gratifying that the sponsors of UNAIDS, the United Nations
Devel opnent Programe (UNDP), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNI CEF), the
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO, the
Worl d Bank, the United Nations International Drug Control Programe (UNDCP),
the Wrld Health Organi zation (WHO) and the United Nations Popul ati on
Fund (UNFPA) had all significantly increased their resources and efforts,
particularly in Africa. Under the resident coordinator, the thematic groups

on HI V/AIDS had a key role to play. Where they functioned well - which was



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 10

not everywhere - they had expanded to include representatives of other

United Nations agencies and of Governments. |In some cases they included

non- gover nment al organi zati ons (NGGs), bilateral agencies and representatives
of people living with Al DS

In addition to Governnents, comunity groups and | ocal governnents
shoul d be given the tools to manage the AIDS epidemc. Civil society had
al ready shown its resilience. That must be replicated on a national scale.
The various sectors nmust reinforce one another to create a genuine
mul ti sectoral response: not only the health sector but also transport,
def ence, |ocal government and, above all, education. The United Nations
initiative on girls' education, currently being devel oped under the | eadership
of UNI CEF, provided an opportunity not to be missed. Schools represented a
maj or potential resource for prevention education and reducing social stigm
They al so had an inportant role to play in mtigating the inmpact of AIDS

Countries nust deci de what they wanted. Political |eaders had some
potentially unpopul ar decisions to make regarding life skills or sex
education. They could, however, create an environment where increasing
nunbers of individuals would want to know their status and act on it w thout
fear of discrimnation or exploitation. Religious organizations, the nedia
and comunity | eaders should be invited to join themin concerted action to
reduce the stigma of AIDS. UNAIDS enjoyed good coll aboration with Mislim
Christian and Buddhi st groups.

More resources were essential. A study had shown that, in 1996, only
US$ 165 mllion had been spent on H V/AIDS activities in 25 sub-Saharan
African countries and only $15 million had cone from national sources.

Nati onal Governnents nust devote nore of their own resources and seek to
broaden their partnership base.

Coordi nation was not an end in itself; it nmust focus on results. It had
not al ways been easy to coordinate within the United Nations system on AlDS
but progress had been nmade with the first ever unified budget and work plan in
the United Nations system devised by UNAIDS, integrating the efforts of the
Secretariat and the Sponsors. Moire attention should be paid to the |inks
bet ween AIDS and ot her issues, such as conflict situations, refugees and
reconstruction, both through the work of UNAIDS with internationa

organi zations and at the country |evel.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 11

An adequate response to Al DS depended on a number of factors:
contributions fromsubstantially nore partners; national and institutiona
strategi c plans establishing clear priorities for action at the community
| evel ; nore financial resources at the country level; and intensified
political and policy advocacy at all levels. Despite the grow ng devastation
produced by the di sease, however, he had becone nore optim stic over the past
year: the international concern and nonentum for action was such that he
bel i eved that the spread of H V could be slowed and eventually controlled in
Africa and throughout the rest of the world.

M. GRAISSE (Deputy Executive Director, Wrld Food Programre) said
that, whereas nmany of the persons present would have known someone who had
died of AIDS, few would have had any personal contact with fam ne. They
woul d, however, have seen sone intolerable pictures of hunger on television
Sone |ives had been saved, but it was not known how many. And the financia
cost was very high: in southern Sudan, in the sumer of 1998, US$ 1 million a
day, and perhaps the same anmount shortly afterwards in Angola, or in Ethiopia,
where the devastating drought risked bringi ng new catastrophi c consequences,
or in many other parts of Africa, where natural disasters occurred with
increasing regularity and ferocity. The donor comrunity usually rallied
round, but at a terrible cost in both noney and lives: 10 WP staff nenbers
had | ost their lives in Africa in 1998, nost of thembrutally nurdered. The
tally to date for 1999 was three. The cost was, of course, highest of all for
the poor victins of silent emergencies, who did not benefit from assistance.

In the early 1990s, WFP had spent 20 per cent of its resources on
energenci es and 80 per cent on devel opment. Enmergencies currently accounted
for 80 per cent. The ampunt of food aid had increased: WP had raised
$1.7 billion in cash and commodities in 1998. Africa still received over
50 per cent of WP resources, despite mmjor natural disasters in Asia; and WP
had fed 20 million Africans. |If it had been spared the costs of energency
efforts, however, many nore resources woul d have been available for activities
Wi th sustainable benefits. As it was, WP focused its devel opment resources
on the poorest people in the poorest areas of the poorest countries. There
had been sone successes and it had been possible to cl ose down WFP programes

in some countries because they were no | onger needed.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 12

Mal nouri shed wonen gave birth to babies whose start in |life was al ready
conprom sed by their small size and weight. It was not only AIDS that was
transmtted fromone generation to the next; the same was true of hunger and
its consequences. The priority of WFP was therefore to support people at
times in their lives when their food needs were critical. It was a
prerequi site for subsequent sustai nabl e hunan devel opnent.

Some Governnments had questioned the validity of food aid for
devel opnent. The WFP Executive Board had therefore undertaken a massive
review of the issue and had concl uded that food aid could not solve problens
by itself, except in enmergencies. WWP was therefore restricting its
activities to the areas of greatest need. He recalled one country - not in
Africa - where WFP had once run a massive school feeding programre. The
result had been that teachers had found thensel ves not with a class of
50 children to teach but with 150 to feed. That nistake, due to
overent husiasm woul d not be repeated: such progranmes were set up only if
they tipped the balance in favour of parents sending their children -
especially girls - to school. Indeed, an extra incentive mght be offered by
giving the girl some vegetable oil, for exanple, to take hone.

VWher e devel opnent was concerned, WFP would work in future only in
conjunction with a partner, usually an organization of the United Nations
system nost specifically UNDP, UN CEF, WHO, UNESCO, FAO or the International
Fund for Agricultural Devel opment (IFAD). That entailed collaboration in the
full est sense of the word.

M. TAO VIAINEN (Observer for Finland), speaking on behalf of the

Eur opean Uni on, said that, anpng the many and vari ous problens facing Africa,
the nost glaring was the gap between actual econom c growth and that needed
for poverty reduction. He asked how ODA shoul d be focused to achi eve nore
than mere gromh so as to enhance the African countries' coordination capacity
and save neagre resources. Secondly, he asked what could be done to ensure
t he best possible results fromthe Conference on AIDS that was to be held at
Lusaka in Septenber 1999.

M . BAHAMONDES (Canada) stressed the inportance of nonitoring the

progress of United Nations initiatives on Africa and asked whether they m ght

not feasibly be rationalized under one unbrella.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 13

M. KUVAMARU (Japan) asked the UNDP Assistant Administrator to

describe the role played by the specialized agencies, host countries and ot her
pl ayers in the el aboration and review of coordi nati on nmechani sns such as the
CCA.

M. LEGEERI (Italy), asked whether breastfeeding needed to be
curbed in view of the reported risk of H V/ AIDS transm ssion fromnother to
child. He also wished to know what role was being played by WFP in shifting
the emphasis from overseas shipnents of food aid to the |ocal purchase of
food, and whether WFP was investing in storage facilities and rural access
roads so as to reduce post-harvest |osses. His delegation attached great
i nportance to international support for regional and subregional cooperation
in Africa.

M. GOFFIN (Bel giunm stressed that food aid al one woul d not
suffice; it nust be acconpani ed by devel oprment activities. In that context,
he wondered whet her WFP shoul d not be transformed into an integrated programe
along the lines of UNAIDS. It would seemthat WFP had | ost some of its
“essence” with regard to devel opnent.

Ms. CASSAM (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultura
Organi zati on (UNESCO ) said that UNESCO saw the famly as being the nost
i mportant of human resources and the unit upon which all societies were based.
| deas regardi ng African devel opnent that had been held for 40 years had
suddenl y become untenabl e because the famly itself was being destroyed in
Africa. The international conmunity should ask itself how the bizarre concept
of 7 per cent economic growh could be achieved in a situation that was m ned
wi th econom c di sasters.

Fi nanci al constraints on African countries had led to a massive drain on
education and heal th budgets. Not only did schools |lack the necessary
resources, but the teachers were dying of HVVAIDS. The havoc caused by the
virus should be put in its proper perspective and considered in relation to
the Col ogne debt initiative. The highly indebted poor countries (H PC) should
be asked to produce statistics on the inpact of HHVAIDS on fam lies, socia
structures, education and health. Africa was being destroyed by a nunber of
interrel ated phenonena, and coordi nati on nmust not be perceived nerely in terns

of a linking of institutional mandates.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 14

M. BRESLER (United States of Anerica) said he welconed the
progress achieved in the systemw de coordination efforts. The npst pressing
i ssue facing the system however, was the evident need for increased
resources. Delegations should all do their best to convince their respective
| egislators to renedy that situation.

M. NAHAYO (Qbserver for Burundi), having expressed his
appreciation of the United Nations assistance to his country, w thout which
Burundi woul d have been in a far worse predi canent, asked whet her the
panel li sts coul d suggest ways of ensuring that ongoing interventions actually
achi eved the econom c and soci al devel opnment for which they were designed.

HI V/ AIDS had | eft many African children orphaned and, given the depl orable
soci o- econom ¢ environnent, they, too, risked falling prey to the virus.
Coul d coordi nated projects help Africa to escape fromthat vicious circle?

Ms. FAHLEN (Observer for Sweden) asked the UNDP Assi stant
Admi ni strator and the Executive Director of UNAIDS what action could be taken
by the United Nations systemin the field of youth and devel opnent.

M. NANJIRA (Wbrld Meteorol ogi cal Organization (WMD) said that
i nsufficient recognition was accorded to the efforts of African countries. 1In
that connection, it was worth exam ning how the concept that Africans were
simply sitting around waiting for assistance could be conbated. The world's
media failed to report on the events shaping the continent, focusing on Africa
only in times of crisis. Wereas 10 deaths el sewhere were given extensive
coverage, the nedia ignored the thousands of deaths in Africa every day. He
wonder ed what the reasons were for such unbal anced reporting.

M_. GRAISSE (Deputy Executive Director, Wrld Food Progranme
(WFP)), replying to a question by the representative of Italy, said that
in 1963, the prime role of WFP had been to nove food surpluses froma donor
country to a recipient one. The current situation was that nmore than half of
t he agency’s resources were received in cash. [In 1998, WP had purchased sone
US$ 66 million-worth of local cereals and other foodstuffs. Its aimwas to
purchase | ocally wherever possible. The mllion tonnes of cereals provided by
the United States of America the previous year had, however, been npst
wel come. WP al so sought to pronote the use of local carriers and to utilize
African transport capacities el sewhere. For exanple, a South African conpany

ran WFP’s daily flights from Rome to Pristina.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 15

Wth regard to regi onal and subregi onal cooperation, WP had worked
closely with the South African Devel opnment Comunity (SADC) in preparing for
possi bl e drought in southern Africa in the wake of El N Ao. As it happened,
the drought had not been as serious as expected and it had been possible to
rel ocate food rapidly to Kenya, Somalia and Tanzania, which had been affected
by their worst floods in decades.

The press did, indeed, appear to be nore interested in the inefficiency
or corrupt activities of particular government officials than in nore positive
news. However, the nedia did provide sufficient coverage when needed. During
the previous year’s crisis in Sudan, daily reports by the BBC and CNN had
contributed massively to nobilizing the necessary donor support.

WFP traditionally cooperated with other agencies even in the absence of
any formal mechanism Virtually all projects were prepared with the
cooperati on of UNESCO, sonetinmes with UNDP financing. The progranme on womnen
and children's nutrition, for exanple, involved the cooperation of UN CEF and
VWHO.

The perception anong certain donors that WP had | ost sonething of its
“essence” was based on a m sconception which WP had been studying for sone
time. By focusing on certain priority domains, the food-aid-for-devel opnent
projects could be given the prom nence they deserved.

Dr. PIOT (Executive Director, Joint and Co-sponsored
United Nations Progranme on HI V/ AIDS (UNAIDS)), said that capacity-building
must be a top priority for long-terminvestnent in devel opment.

Unfortunately, short-termpriorities, which were the normand of imediate

utility, hindered sustainable development. It was vital to focus on socia
capital, its sustainability, and ways of reaching communities. H V/ Al DS had
been a touchstone for disclosing many societal problenms. Investnment in and

support for social adjustnment policies should be stepped up, as investnment in

growth or reaction to emergencies al one woul d not provide lasting solutions.
In an effort to determ ne how debt-relief resources could be channelled

into | ocal support of H V/AIDS activities, talks had begun before the

G 8 Sumit in Cologne with UNDP, the Wrld Bank and the treasury departnments

of major bilateral donors, the latter being a major conponent of the UNAIDS



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 16

partnership. Plans were well advanced in Zanbia, with a view to providing
concrete recomendati ons for presentation to the regional Conference on AlDS
which it would host at Lusaka in Septenber 1999.

In that connection, he explained to the observer for Finland, that an
annual regional conference on AIDS had been held in Africa for the past
15 years with the support of the United Nations system and especially of
UNDP, whi ch had been instrumental in their preparation. Those conferences
focused on two main ideas, nanely, the link between Al DS and devel opnent and
the reframi ng of the AIDS debate to stress that it was not just the concern of
the smal |l constituency of nedical professionals.

Many African heads of States would be participating in the Conference,
whi ch woul d provide an opportunity for ensuring that the inmpact was felt in
the countries concerned, in terns of the best fornms of investnent for HV
prevention and care. A process was also being promoted through the
United Nations thematic groups on HHV/AIDS in all African countries to prepare
for the Conference and its follow up, especially with regard to policy.

In reply to the question by the representative of Italy concerning the
conpl ex problem of breastfeeding as a source of HV transm ssion, he said
that, before the AIDS epidem c, breastfeeding had been one of the best and
cheapest public-health interventions and had saved the lives of mllions of
children. It was, alas, true that the HV virus could be transmtted from
nother to child through breastfeeding, thus making something free and
nutritious highly problematic. Cearly, breastfeeding by non-infected nothers
and in | ow Hl V-incidence regions should conti nue. However, pilot projects had
been | aunched with UNI CEF and FAO particularly in Africa, to ensure that an
i ncreasi ng nunber of babies did not start Iife with AIDS, as over half a
mllion had in Africa in 1998.

The fact that the vast mpjority of infected wonren were unaware of their
plight called for counselling and testing facilities, also a conpl ex business
owing to the enormous stigma that still attached to HV infection; ensuring
the availability of drugs for interrupting nmother-to-child transm ssion; and
safe alternatives to breastfeeding, as nuch an econom c as a cultural issue:
economi ¢, because substitutes were expensive; cultural, because in societies

where breastfeeding was the norm a woman resorting to substitutes would be



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 17

i medi ately identified as H V-infected. He hoped that UNAIDS work on the
problemw th a nunber of partners would, in a few years, reduce the nunber of
children born with HV or infected through breastfeeding.

Lastly, regarding the new generation's place in development, he said it
was certainly a priority group for work on AIDS, since over 50 per cent of al
new H V i nfections currently occurred anong young people aged 15 to 24. At
the nost recent neeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordi nati ng Board, the Board
had approved a specific seven-point strategy for working with youth on HV,
and the world AIDS campai gn had, for the past two years, been focused on young
people. In terns of the resources of the United Nations system thematically
speaking a |large proportion went to youth programres, through UN CEF, UNESCO
UNFPA, UNAIDS, the World Bank and UNDP. It was UNAIDS anbition to work with
mai nst ream yout h organi zati ons, which were an inval uable resource. It was not
sufficient to devel op programmes for young people, they thenmsel ves had to be
the main actors.

Ms. AWORI (Assistant Adm nistrator, United Nations Devel opnent
Programme (UNDP)) said she agreed with the observer for Finland that
capacity-building in its broadest sense was an area on which ODA shoul d focus.
It required mammoth resources and effort and, while many Covernnents were
taking it seriously, they still |acked the support they deserved. She also
agreed with the representative of Canada that coherence needed to be given to
the various initiatives for Africa. There was a need to address the idea of
enhancing the visibility of any one particular initiative which, in fact,
obstructed effective joint action.

Myri ad opportunities existed for synergy between the United Nations
Systemwi de Special Initiative for Africa and the Tokyo Internationa
Conf erences on African Devel opnent (TICAD), since the same countries were
i nvolved in both and advanced the sane ideas. UNDP was considering the
possibility of their working together instead of under separate programres, a
proposal it would be making to Japan at their forthcom ng talks. The very
ef fecti ve UN- UNDAF process shoul d be kept alive and continuation of the
Special Initiative process encouraged. UNDP would do everything possible to
ensure that the agencies produced results. As repeatedly stated, coordination

was not an end in itself: Africa needed results.



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 18

No single format had been used in the CCAs. The guidelines had been
finalized and transmitted to the field offices only in 1999 and had been based
on previous experiences. They had, however, benefited fromthe participation
of CGovernnents, civil society and the World Bank. A conprehensive assessnent
of the CCA/ UNDAF process woul d be undertaken for the next triennial review
in 2001, in collaboration with the various stakehol ders. The mechanisnms were
still in their early stages, and although they had been received with great
ent husi asm they must be kept on track. UNDP would provide the Council with
an annual update thereof.

To the question regardi ng support for regional and subregi ona
programes, she said that UNDP did support various subregional groupings, such
as ECOMAS, as well as the ECA and OAU. However, such work needed vast
resources which UNDP did not possess. One solution would be to invite donors
to make further contributions to local initiatives, as had been done in the
past .

One original regional initiative in which several countries had joined
was the Africa Governance Forum process, which had been wel conmed by
Governnments. Following the first Forum the CGovernnent of Norway had
contributed US$ 10 mllion, |ater replenished by a further US$ 3 mllion, al
of which had been spent. She urged those present to contribute to the
funding, with a view to helping African countries address their own probl ens
in their owm way, rather than have exogenous sol utions inmposed on them

Turning to debt service and AIDS, she said that ways nmust be found for
debt relief resources to be used for social sector developnent. |In reply to
t he observer for Burundi, she said that nuch UNDP action resulted in rea
growth, but it believed in growh with equity, and the fate of the proceeds of
grow h was even nore inportant. Attenpts were being made to increase
br oad- based productivity and enhance entrepreneurship

Vi | e many Governments were concerned with short-termstructura
pl anni ng, UNDP advi sed them to adopt |long-term strategi c planning and hel ped
them do so. Many partners were helping Africa with the paranount task of
| ong-term pl anning. For instance, the Africa Governance Forum m ght not be a

direct investment, but it would make for productivity. African countries nust



E/ 1999/ SR. 32
page 19

guard agai nst the possibility that, in the absence of an adequate enabling
environnent, their nationals mght be tenpted to seek an environment where
they coul d be productive el sewhere.

Taki ng the gl ooy picture of sub-Saharan Africa as an indictnment of its
wor k, UNDP had deci ded to adopt a different approach, and instead of
reconvening its traditional partners, had held a neeting with the churches,
farmers' associations, traditional |eaders, and youth - a nmjor source of
unt apped potential. At the neeting, a youth representative had nmentioned that
many letters to the United Nations went unanswered, whereupon the then
Admi ni strator had pl edged that UNDP woul d work closely with young people. It
coul d probably count on UNESCO assistance in its support for youth
or gani zati ons.

To give Africans a boost for the new mllennium there should be a
change in the vocabul ary of devel opnent, which intimated that they were nere
beneficiaries and ignored the magnitude of their input. The sacrifices made
by Africans thensel ves nmust be acknow edged, as the QAU Summit in Al giers had
done. She cited a number of instances of assistance fromone African country
to another in devel opnment projects, and a neeting was to be held at Ti mbuktu
i n Decenber to consider the nedia i mage of Africa.

The African context was a di scouragi ng one and required renewed efforts
and a pronotion of African initiatives, of the willingness of the agencies and
Menber States to coll aborate, and of such new instrunents as CCA/ UNDAF. As
the representative of the United States had said, many nmore resources were
needed for coordinated efforts. G ven the response to Kosovo, the Africans
would find it hard to believe that the resources did not exist. Mre should

be done to help Africa and to highlight the self-help activities of Africans.

The neeting rose at 12.45 p. m




